THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity

Case No. 2017-002557

Deborah L. Boies,

Respondent,

v.

Jacqueline J. Lanier,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 06 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Matthew H. Henrikson
Henrikson Law Firm, LLC
Post Office Box 26554
Greenville, South Carolina 29616
(864) 672-7106
Attorney for Appellant

July 3, 2018

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE LANGUAGE IN 1.4 WAS NOT AMBIGUOUS AS IT RELATED TO FENCING WHICH COULD BE PLACED ON THE PROPERTY

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT 2.8 WAS UNENFORCEABLE BECAUSE IT IS TOO BROAD, FAILS TO SPECIFY COLOR OF STRUCTURES, AND VIOLATES PUBLIC POLICY BY RESERVING IN A SINGLE GRANTOR THE ABILITY TO APPROVE OR DISAPPROVE OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGES FOR "ANY REASON"

III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT SUPPLEMENTAL COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS FILED ONLY IN APPELLANT'S TITLE CHAIN AND NOT IN THE TITLE CHAINS OF OTHER GRANTEEES OF THE RESPONDENT WERE BINDING ON THE OTHER GRANTEEES

IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ORDERING APPELLANT TO REPLACE THE REMOVED FENCE IN LIGHT OF RESPONDENT'S TESTIMONY AND EMAIL TO APPELLANT AND THE EQUITIES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent filed Summons and Complaint to enforce certain Covenants and Restrictions (1.4 and 2.8) pertaining to a fence on Appellant's property and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction on November 30, 2016. On December 16, 2016 the parties entered into a Consent order in which Respondent withdrew her motions and Appellant agreed to refrain from erecting a new fence until final disposition of this action. Appellant filed an Answer to the Summons and Complaint on January 13, 2017. Appellant then filed a Motion to Dismiss on March 14, 2017 which was denied on April 20, 2017. The case was referred by consent to the Master on May 1, 2017. Appellant filed a motion for Summary Judgment on July 13, 2017 which was denied on August 22, 2017. A trial was held on October 4, 2017. The Master issued an Order on October 19, 2017. Appellant's Motion to Reconsider was filed October 30, 2017 and was denied by Order filed November 21, 2017. This appeal followed.

FACTS

Appellant, Jacqueline J. Lanier, a member of the South Carolina Bar whose practice consists primarily of handling residential real estate transactions purchased approximately twenty-two (22) acres near Landrum in Greenville County from a one hundred and twenty (120) acre tract owned by Respondent in two (2) transactions in 2015. At the time, a white vinyl fence conveyed with the property sold to Appellant. In the area of the property there are white and dark colored fences made of vinyl and wood, primarily in the horse pasture fashion design with posts in the ground and two to three (2-3) slats. About half of the fences in the surrounding area are white and about half are darker in color. At the time of the sales, a set of Covenants and Restrictions was on file for all parcels subdivided and sold from the Respondent's tract. Appellant's two (2) deeds had as exhibit attachments additional "Restrictions" and were filed with Appellant's deeds. These additional "Restrictions" were not filed with any other of the subdivided tracts sold from Respondent's tract and were not otherwise filed with the Greenville County Register of Deeds Office except as with Appellant's deeds.

In 2017, Appellant decided to replace the existing white vinyl fence on her property with another fence in the same location and with the same design differing only in material (wood) and color (dark) but otherwise being the same size, style, and location. Respondent got word from a vigilant friend that Appellant intended to erect a dark colored wood fence and the underlying action ensued.

Respondent contends that Appellant violated the two (2) following provisions of the Covenants and Restrictions:

1.4 Walls, Fences and Hedges. Any fence placed on any tract or parcel shall be comparable in style and constructed material to a fence presently located on the boundary of the Real Property (white vinyl fencing). Exceptions may be granted by Grantor.

2.8. Grantor Approval of Plans. No landscaping, building, fence, wall or other structure shall be commenced, erected, maintained, and all subsequent reconstruction, modifications, additions or alterations upon any Lot, nor shall any exterior addition to or change or alteration therein be made until the plans and specifications showing the nature, kind, shape, height, materials, and location of the same shall have been submitted to and approved in writing as to harmony of external design and location in relation to surrounding structures and topography by the Grantor. The Grantor shall have the right to refuse to approve any such building plans, specifications, site plants, landscaping, or grading plans which are not suitable or desirable, in the Grantor's sole opinion, for any reason, including pure aesthetic reasons.

Section 1.4 appears in the set of filed Covenants and Restrictions which existed prior to Appellant's property purchase and Section 2.8 appears in the set of additional "Restrictions" which at the time of trial appeared only on the record attached to and pertaining to Appellant's property.

APPLICABLE LAW

"Restrictive covenants, sometimes referred to as 'real covenants,' are agreements 'to do, or refrain from doing, certain things with respect to real property.'" *Kinard v. Richardson*, 407 S.C. 247, 754 S.E.2d 888, (Ct. App. 2014). "Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature, and thus, the language used in the restrictive covenant is to be construed according to its plain and ordinary meaning." *Penny Creek Assocs., LLC v. Fenwick Tarragon Apartments, LLC*, 375 S.C. 267, 651 S.E.2d 617, 620 (Ct. App. 2007). Restrictions on the use of property are historically disfavored. *Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells*, 294 S.C. 266, 270, 363 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1987). "The historical disfavor of restrictive covenants by the law emanates from the widely held view that society's best interests are advanced by encouraging the free and unrestricted use of land." *Rhodes v. Palmetto Pathway Homes, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 308, 311, 400 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991). "Courts shall enforce such covenants unless they are indefinite or contravene public policy." *Sea Pines Plantation Co.*, 294 S.C. at 270, 363 S.E.2d at 894.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action seeking an injunction to enforce restrictive covenants sounds in equity. *Santoro v. Schulthess*, 384 S.C. 250, 681 S.E.2d 897, (Ct.App.2009). *S.C. Dep't of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 550 S.E.2d 299, (2001). In an equitable action, this Court may make findings according to its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE LANGUAGE IN 1.4 WAS NOT AMBIGUOUS AS IT RELATED TO FENCING WHICH COULD BE PLACED ON THE PROPERTY

1.4 Walls, Fences and Hedges. Any fence placed on any tract or parcel shall be comparable in style and constructed material to a fence presently located on the boundary of the Real Property (white vinyl fencing). Exceptions may be granted by Grantor.

The plain and ordinary meanings of the words in Section 1.4 of the Covenants and Restrictions clearly state that fences to be placed on any subject land shall be “comparable” in style and constructed material. The word “comparable” in that sentence differs from “exactly like”, which thus allows for some deviation. Respondent agrees but states that despite the word “comparable”, her interpretation is that the fencing must always be exactly white vinyl fencing which renders the word “comparable” meaningless. (R. p. 120, lines 19-23). The plain English reading of 1.4 show that the word “comparable” relates to the words “a fence presently located on the boundary...” later in the sentence. The words “white vinyl fencing” in parentheses clearly identifies the “a fence” by its then current description (why else would it be in parentheses?).

Respondent’s argument that this sentence in its entirety can only be read to require white vinyl fencing to be on the property is manifestly without merit, when if that was the desire, Respondent could have simply written that “any fence placed on any tract shall be white vinyl fencing exactly like the one which is on the property” or could have simply required that the existing fencing had to remain as it existed, which she agrees she could have done (R p. 117, line 15 - p. 118, line 8). Since Respondent did not choose to so restrict new fences, she obviously intended for some deviations from “white vinyl fencing” to be permissible.

The clear and plain language of the sentence establishes that new fences must be similar in style and material to the existing fence, but that they can be different as long as they are

comparable (so as to preclude such fences and privacy, picket, cyclone, chicken wire, etc.); and moreover by its existence the language suggests that the existing fence may be replaced with one comparable in style and material to the existing fence (which arguably leaves only color as the acceptable variable).

Appellant upon reading 1.4 had a reasonable expectation that she could have a fence on her property which while it had to have a design similar to the white vinyl fence which existed on the property, could differ in appearance as long as it was comparable or similar in style (posts and slats) and material (wood and vinyl are indistinguishable from a distance). Respondent's strained interpretation of 1.4 that "comparable in style and constructed material" to a white vinyl fence actually means "it has to be a white vinyl fence" is unreasonable and confuses the buyer with multiple potential meanings.

"[A] restriction on the use of the property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property." *Hardy v. Aiken*, 369 S.C. 160, 631 S.E.2d 539 (2006). (alteration in original). "The language of a restrictive covenant is to be construed according to the plain and ordinary meaning attributed to it at the time of execution." *Id.* A contract is ambiguous when the terms of the contract are reasonably susceptible of more than one interpretation." *DNR v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 550 S.E.2d 299 (S.C., 2001). When such an ambiguity exists, all doubts are to be "resolved in favor of free use of the property." *Hardy v. Aiken*, 369 S.C. 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d 539, 542 (2006). Thus, "a restriction on the use of the property must be created in express terms or by plain and *unmistakable* implication." *Id.* (emphasis added) (quoting *Hamilton v. CCM, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 152, 157, 263 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1980)).

Particularly in light of strict construction with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of the property, at the very least more than one reasonable inference regarding fence requirements can be drawn from 1.4 which renders it ambiguous as a matter of law. "Restrictions on the use of property will be strictly construed with all doubts resolved in favor of free use of the property, although the rule of strict construction should not be used to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the restrictive covenants." *Hardy v. Aiken*, 369 S.C. 160, 631 S.E.2d 539 (2006).

The Trial Court erred in failing to find that the language of 1.4 is ambiguous and as to what color and material fence may be erected on Appellant's property this Court should reverse.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT 2.8 WAS UNENFORCEABLE BECAUSE IT IS TOO BROAD, FAILS TO SPECIFY COLOR OF STRUCTURES, AND VIOLATES PUBLIC POLICY BY RESERVING IN A SINGLE GRANTOR THE ABILITY TO APPROVE OR DISAPPROVE OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGES FOR "ANY REASON"

2.8. Grantor Approval of Plans. No landscaping, building, fence, wall or other structure shall be commenced, erected, maintained, and all subsequent reconstruction, modifications, additions or alterations upon any Lot, nor shall any exterior addition to or change or alteration therein be made until the plans and specifications showing the nature, kind, shape, height, materials, and location of the same shall have been submitted to and approved in writing as to harmony of external design and location in relation to surrounding structures and topography by the Grantor. The Grantor shall have the right to refuse to approve any such building plans, specifications, site plants, landscaping, or grading plans which are not suitable or desirable, in the Grantor's sole opinion, for any reason, including pure aesthetic reasons.

Interestingly, of all of the features and descriptors of proposed improvements required to be submitted for approval, "color" is not one of them. A reasonable reading of 2.8 and the curious absence of the word "color" as a descriptor leads the potential fence builder to

reasonably conclude that the color of the fence is of no concern to the Grantor because literally every other descriptor of potential construction is listed except color. This is consistent with the language of 1.4 which likewise does not address color except as to identify the existing fence.

Moreover, Respondent's reservation of the right to deny any application for improvements on the affected land "for any reason" is grossly indefinite and overbroad, and contravenes public policy because it vests in a single person, a former owner of the land, the sole and absolute right to decide how other owners may use their own property with no available means of review other than the courts of State of South Carolina. Our Supreme Court has held that to be valid and enforceable a restrictive covenant must, among other things; "not be too indefinite." *Vickery v. Powell*, 267 S.C. 23, 28, 225 S.E.2d 856, 858 (1976). To be able to make a decision for "any reason" is the very essence of being "too indefinite" as there is no definiteness at all and absolutely no predictability in what may or may not be approved or denied. Courts shall enforce such covenants unless they are indefinite or contravene public policy." *Sea Pines Plantation Co.*, 294 S.C. at 270, 363 S.E.2d at 894.

The plain English definition of "any reason" necessarily includes "no reason" since "no" would be included in the all-inclusive word "any" (if one can do something for any reason, one can also do that thing for "no" reason). To be able to deny reasonable requests for additions of and changes to structures for any reason or no reason at all includes the ability to deny such requests for improper reasons such as would violate the law or public policy. The fact that the subject Covenants and Restrictions simply give Respondent that ability, whether she uses it or not, to act arbitrarily and perhaps improperly, is what renders the 2.8 of the Covenants and Restrictions unenforceable, not necessarily what she does with that power. The examination is on

the language of the Covenants and Restrictions, not the manner in which Plaintiff contends that she uses it.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT SUPPLEMENTAL COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS FILED ONLY IN APPELLANT'S TITLE CHAIN AND NOT IN THE TITLE CHAINS OF OTHER GRANTEES OF THE RESPONDENT WERE BINDING ON THE OTHER GRANTEES

Respondent testified that the supplemental Covenants and Restrictions which contain "2.8 Grantor Approval of Plans" were on file with the Register of Deeds as to all of Respondent's grantees (six owners), (R. p. 105, line 6 – p. 109 line 19) but she was unable to produce a filed set and in fact Appellant testified that she had searched the title for each of the Respondent's grantees and that Appellant was the only parcel to which the 2.8 language applied (R. p. 173, line 10 – p. 174, line 11). In fact, while the set of Covenants and Restrictions that included 1.4 appear in the deed chains of all Respondent's grantees (R. p. 232 - p. 239), the supplemental set which included 2.8 appeared only in Appellant's deed chain such that future grantees of the Respondent's grantees (other than Appellant) would not be bound by 2.8. Recognizing that it would be inherently unfair and inequitable, Respondent agreed that if 2.8 did not apply to all of her grantees, then it should not apply to any of them:

Q. Ma'am, you would agree, wouldn't you, that in a situation where you have numerous homeowners governed by covenants and restrictions that in fairness and equity that the restrictions should apply to all property owners or to none of them, wouldn't you agree with that?

A. I would agree.

(R. p. 112, line 22 – p. 113, line 2)

The uncontroverted testimony at trial, and in fact the public record, show that the 2.8 set of Covenants and Restrictions had not been filed and as such would not have been binding on the other grantees and their future grantees but were binding on Appellant's property only.

Even Respondent agrees that such a disparity is unfair and the Trial Court should have refused to apply 2.8 to Appellant's property.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING APPELLANT TO REPLACE THE REMOVED FENCE IN LIGHT OF RESPONDENT'S TESTIMONY AND EMAIL TO APPELLANT

Even with a finding that the Covenants and Restrictions would prevent Appellant from erecting a dark wood fence on her own property, it was error for the Trial Court to order Appellant to replace the fence which had been taken down. Respondent should be estopped from requiring replacement of the fence because of specific statements made by Respondent to Appellant which Appellant reasonably relied on.

Appellant testified that during her first contact with Respondent relative to the subject fence, a telephone call, Appellant testified that Respondent specifically told her "I don't know why you are taking that fence down. I guess you can since it's your property, but I don't understand why you're doing it" (R. p. 176, lines 3-11). At that point, the fence was still in the process of being taken down. Respondent testified that she did not recall the content of the phone call, but importantly, she did not deny that she told Appellant that Appellant "could take down the fence". Appellant's testimony, uncontroverted, is corroborated by an email sent by Respondent to Appellant on November 28, 2016, with the posts still in the ground (R. p. 276) which makes no mention at all of any prohibition of taking down the fence:

“Hey, Jacqui, it’s been brought to my attention that you are removing the white vinyl fencing on the property that you purchased from me. According to the covenants you are only permitted to reinstall like fencing which means white vinyl. At this point I have no idea why you are removing it, but felt it important to let you know that any replacement must be the same. If you have any questions, feel free to call me.”

(R. p. 276)