RECEIVED

Feb 21 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge;
The Honorable Maite Murphy
and
The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2022-001132
Case No. 2019-CP-07-1666

Stevens Builders, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Michael C. Garraway, Alicia M. Garraway, and TD Bank, N.A., Defendants,

Of Whom TD Bank, N.A. is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, TD BANK, N.A.

J. Martin Page S.C. Bar No.: 100200
BELL CARRINGTON PRICE & GREGG, LLC
339 Heyward Street, 2nd Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 509-7692

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

ARGUMENTS

⁷ On June 6, 2022, Stevens Builders filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the trial court’s May 27, 2022 Order. Mot. for Recons., June 6, 2022 (R. pp. 321-329). TD Bank filed its Opposition. Opp’n to June 6, 2022 Mot. for Recons. (R. pp. 330-346). On July 28, 2022, the trial court issued an Order, denying Stevens Builders’s Motion for Reconsideration. Order Denying June 6, 2022 Mot. for Recons. (R. pp. 63-64).

I. Standard of Review

A. The trial court’s decision setting aside the entry of default should not be disturbed absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion.

The decision whether to set aside an entry of default lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 647, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54 (Ct. App. 2013). The trial court’s decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Id.* An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal, conclusions is without evidentiary support. *Id.*

B. The trial court’s decision granting summary judgment should be affirmed where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, appellate courts apply the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *USAA Property and Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008) (internal citations omitted). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. *Id.* at 653.

II. The Trial Court Properly Granted TD Bank’s Motion to be Relieved from Entry of Default Because TD Bank Satisfied the “Good Cause” Standard for Seeking Relief from Default.

Under South Carolina Rule of Procedure 55(c), the court may set aside entry of default for mere “good cause” shown. SCRPC 55(c); *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 647-48, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54-55 (Ct. App. 2013). “Good cause” exists where a party seeking relief provides “a[n]

explanation for the default and give[s] reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice.” *Regions Bank*, 402 S.C. at 648. In assessing whether vacation of the default entry serves the interests of justice, “the trial court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted.” *Id.* Further, Rule 55(c) should be “liberally construed to promote justice and dispose of cases on the merits.” *Dixon v. Besco Eng’g, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 177, 463 S.E.2d 636, 638 (Ct. App. 1995).⁸

Here, the trial court’s March 6, 2020 decision was correct and should be affirmed on appeal because the trial court had discretion to set aside entry of default, an explanation for the default was provided and the remaining factors weighed in favor of allowing this case to be litigated on the merits. As TD Bank explained in its February 7, 2020 Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default, “TD Bank is served with a high volume of mechanics’ lien cases due to mortgages and the majority of these do not require an answer because S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-70 provides that a mechanics’

⁸ Courts routinely grant relief from default where a reasonable explanation is provided and the interests of justice are served by allowing the case to be litigated on the merits. *See, e.g., Ricks v. Weinrauch*, 293 S.C. 372, 375, 360 S.E.2d 535, 537 (Ct. App. 1987) (finding “no abuse of discretion” and that “trial court properly vacated the entry of default,” finding respondent “acted reasonably by contacting her attorney and her insurance agent and, again, contacting her attorney upon discovering problems with her insurance agent” even though she delayed in getting papers to her attorney); *AJG Holdings LLC v. Dunn*, 2007 WL 6870161 (S.C. Com. Pl. 2007) (granting plaintiffs’ motion to set aside entry of default where motion was made shortly after reply was due, “plaintiffs ha[d] meritorious defenses to the defendants’ counterclaims”, and “defendants did not take any action in reliance on the plaintiffs’ default[.]”); *Vanness, III v. Eckerd Corp.*, 1999 WL 34968246 (S.C. Com. Pl. 1999) (granting defendant’s motion to set aside entry of default where complaint was sent to defendant’s insurer’s team leader, who was out of the office with a sick child, the team leader’s adjusters were also out of the office for an unusual amount of days that month, and, after the team leader forwarded the complaint to South Carolina counsel, he immediately requested an extension of time to respond to the complaint, which plaintiff’s counsel was unable to respond to due to his own unavailability and defendant’s motion “was served by mail three days after default”, “[d]efendant [] posed meritorious defenses to each of the [p]laintiff’s causes of action”, and plaintiff would not be prejudiced by the court granting defendant’s motion).

lien and resulting foreclosure is junior to a properly perfected mortgage lien.” Mot. to be Relieved from Default, Feb. 7, 2020, p. 3 (R. p. 81). Further, TD Bank explained that the failure to file a timely response was “inadvertent and unintentional.” *Id.* At the hearing on the motion, TD Bank reiterated that “it’s served with a high number of mechanic’s lien actions . . . because it does a lot of construction loans,” and is typically not required to respond. Feb. 26, 2020 Hr’g Tr. 3:1-24 (R. p. 349, lines 1-24).⁹ Having considered TD Bank’s motion to be relieved from entry of default, and holding a hearing on the motion, the trial court found that TD Bank’s explanation as to why it missed its deadline to respond to the Complaint was satisfactory. Order Granting Feb. 7, 2020 Mot. to be Relieved from Default, p. 2 (R. p. 151) (“TD Bank has shown that ‘good cause’ exists here as to why an answer to the Complaint was not filed.”).

The trial court also found that the remaining factors weighed in favor of granting TD Bank relief from the default. Order Granting Feb. 7, 2020 Mot. to be Relieved from Default, p. 2 (R. p. 151). **First**, “upon being referred the action, TD Bank’s counsel immediately filed” the motion to be relieved from default. *Id.* **Second**, “a meritorious defense exists” to Stevens Builders’s claims against TD Bank. *Id.* **Third**, there “would be no prejudice to [Stevens Builders] in allowing TD Bank to answer or otherwise respond to the Complaint.” *Id.* The trial court’s decision to allow the case to be decided on the merits was correct and should not be disturbed.

Stevens Builders’s Initial Brief provides no authority for its argument that, in order for a court to consider whether to set aside a default, the moving party must submit affidavits or oral testimony. *See generally* Initial Br. of Appellant. Instead, the Initial Brief cites inapplicable rules

⁹ The Initial Brief incorrectly states that the trial court acknowledged during the hearing that TD Bank’s reasons for failing to file an answer were not a good explanation. Initial Br. of Appellant at p. 14. The court instead stated merely that it did not think it a “great explanation” that the damages hearing notice went to corporate headquarters, instead of TD Bank’s registered agent in South Carolina. Feb. 26, 2020 Hr’g Tr. 9:20-23 (R. p. 355, lines 20-23).

and cases. The Initial Brief cites South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 43(e), which addresses motions made at trial, not motions for relief from entry of a default. *Id.* at 12. It also cites a series of cases that do not even address a motion to set aside a default.¹⁰ The balance of cases actually addressing a motion to set aside a default are factually distinct, and none address the scenario presented to the trial court here, where a defendant explained that its failure to respond was inadvertent, due to receipt of a large volume of complaints to which no response is typically

¹⁰ See *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 66, 403 S.E.2d 127, 128 (S.C. Ct. App. 1991) (denying father’s motion to set aside a portion of a “maintenance and support order that found him to be the father of the child born during the parties’ marriage,” where father did not provide any evidence to support his defense to mother’s claim of paternity); *McManus v. Bank of Greenwood*, 171 S.C. 84, 171 S.E. 473, 474 (1933) (reversing order granting judgment for respondent against insurance association, which judgment would allow bank to levy association’s bank account, because respondent provided no evidence that funds in bank were held in trust for her benefit); *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 58, 348 S.E.2d 180, 184 (S.C. Ct. App. 1986) (disregarding testimony of plaintiff’s counsel, during a hearing on plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment, about the substance of depositions taken in the litigation because the deposition had not been properly entered into the record); *Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC*, 390 S.C. 275, 292-93, 701 S.E.2d 742, 751 (2010) (affirming summary judgment for respondent because it adequately provided evidence to establish its defense); *McClurg v. Deaton*, 395 S.C. 85, 87, 716 S.E.2d 887, 888 (2011) (court affirmed denial of motions for relief from default judgment because petitioners did not preserve issue of whether they had a meritorious defense with the circuit court).

required and where vacation of default served the interests of justice.¹¹ Moreover, not a single one states that an affidavit or testimony is required for a court to set aside a default.¹²

¹¹ See *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 609-10, 681 S.E.2d 885, 889 (2009) (affirming entry of default judgment, reasoning that respondent could “not be relieved from the entry of default solely because it relied to its detriment on a negligent insurance agent” and because it failed to show “good cause as to why the [a second copy of the] summons and complaint ... was not answered in a timely manner.”); *Williams v. Vanvolkenburg*, 312 S.C. 373, 375, 440 S.E.2d 408, 409 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994) (per curium) (affirming denial of motion to set aside default because appellants “never requested their attorney answer the Complaint[.]”); *Richardson v. P.V., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 619, 682 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2009) (affirming denial of motion to set aside default because “[n]egligence of an insurance company is imputed to a defaulting litigant and cannot constitute good cause to relieve Appellants from the entry of default” and where appellants failed to “assert[] a meritorious defense or argue[] that [r]espondent will not be prejudiced if the entry of default is lifted.”); *Campbell v. City of N. Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 462, 848 S.E.2d 788, 790-91 (S.C. Ct. App. 2020) (affirming denial of motion to set aside entry of default where respondent “provided no explanation” for failure to open and forward complaint to respondent’s liability claims handler); *White Oak Manor, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 1, 11-12, 753 S.E.2d 537, 542-43 (2014) (affirming denial of motion to set aside default because respondent “provided no reasonable explanation for why it failed to respond to the initial complaint[,]” and that respondent “lost the pleadings” was insufficient); *Wilder v. Blue Ribbon Taxicab Corp.*, 396 S.C. 139, 144-46, 719 S.E.2d 703, 706-07 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011) (affirming denial of motion to set aside entry of default because: (1) appellant’s argument that it “did not recall ever personally receiving a copy of the summons and complaint” was not good cause for setting aside an entry of default; (2) “more than a year elapsed between the time [appellant] was served with the summons and complaint and when it moved for relief”; (3) appellant acknowledged that it had no meritorious defense to liability; and (4) it was undisputed that respondent would be prejudiced if the matter was further delayed while [appellant] conducted discovery on an issue such as liability).

¹² See FN9 and FN10 (and cases cited therein).

Here, after considering TD Bank’s motion, Stevens Builders’s opposition, and oral argument by counsel for both parties, the trial court, in its discretion, correctly granted TD Bank’s request to be relieved from default, and the trial court’s ruling should be affirmed.

III. The Trial Court Properly Denied Stevens Builders’s Motion for Default Because TD Bank Complied with the Trial Court’s March 9, 2020 Order and Defended Against the Complaint By Filing a Motion to Dismiss.

The trial court’s March 9, 2020 Order granted TD Bank’s Motion to be Relieved from Default and ordered TD Bank “to file an answer or other pleading to the Complaint within fifteen (15) days from entry of this Order.” Order Granting Feb. 7, 2020 Mot. to be Relieved from Default, p. 3 (R. p. 152). TD Bank complied with the trial court’s order by filing a Motion to Dismiss within fifteen days. Mot. to Dismiss (R. pp. 96-106). On June 8, 2020, the trial court issued an Order denying TD Bank’s Motion to Dismiss. Order Denying Mot. to Dismiss (R. pp. 45-47). On June 23, 2020, fifteen days later, TD Bank timely filed an Answer to the Complaint. Answer and Affirmative Defenses. The Initial Brief incorrectly argues that the lower court should have granted Stevens Builders’s motion for default because TD Bank timely filed a motion to dismiss, instead of an answer. *See* Initial Br. of Appellant, pp. 15-17.¹³

¹³ *United Machine Works, Inc. v. Williams*, 268 S.C. 600, 235 S.E.2d 711 (1977), which Stevens Builders’s cited in footnote 101 in its Initial Brief, is distinguishable. In that case, the defendants initially filed a demurrer to the complaint. After the demurrer was overruled, the court issued two separate orders: (1) “to answer or otherwise plead to the complaint” within ten days and to (2) answer and/or answer and counter-claim and/or answer, counter-claim and cross-complaint. The defendants thereafter “served a notice of motion to make more definite and certain and to strike from the complaint.” The court denied defendants’ motions, explaining that “[i]f one could demur and lose, and then move to make more definite and certain and/or strike from the complaint, he could thereafter demur again on the basis of the corrected complaint. If one desires to ‘straighten out’ a complaint, he must do so before demurring or answering...”. Here, TD Bank had not yet filed a demurrer or motion to dismiss when the trial court issued its March 9, 2020 Order relieving TD Bank from default and allowing TD Bank fifteen days to file an answer or to otherwise plead. Therefore, the concerns the appellate court expressed in *United Machine Works, Inc.* are not applicable to this case, because this is not a scenario where TD Bank tried to file repeated demurrers.

The trial court correctly denied Stevens Builders’s motion for default for two reasons. **First**, entry of default would have been expressly contrary to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 55(a). *Rule 55(a) permits entry of default only “[w]hen a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to plead or otherwise defend as provided by these rules* and that fact is made to appear by affidavit or otherwise, the clerk shall enter his default upon the calendar (file book).” Here, there is no dispute that TD Bank did “otherwise defend” against the Complaint by filing a motion to dismiss. *See Stark Truss Co., Inc. v. Superior Const. Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 509 n.1, 602 S.E.2d 99, 102 n.1 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing 10A Charles Allen Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 2682, at 16–17 (3rd ed. 1989) (“The words ‘otherwise defend’ refer to the interposition of various challenges to such matters as service, venue, and the sufficiency of the prior pleading, any of which might prevent a default if pursued in the absence of a responsive pleading.”); *Vista Investments, LLC v. Tompkins & McMaster, LLP*, 2013-001385, 2015 WL 5248737, at *1 (Ct. App. Sept. 9, 2015) (“Specifically, we find Respondents’ filing of a motion for summary judgment was sufficient to withstand default under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.”).

Second, even if TD Bank could be deemed to have failed to plead or otherwise defend, which it cannot when it timely filed a motion to dismiss, the trial court correctly considered and applied South Carolina’s well-settled policy of favoring the disposition of cases “on their merits rather than on technicalities” when denying Stevens Builders’s motion. *Micronics, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 511, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct. App. 2001). “It is the policy of the law to favor trial of cases on the merits” over default judgments, which are considered a “harsh and drastic action.” *Petty v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 272 S.C. 282, 288, 251 S.E.2d 735, 738

(1979). Rule 55(c) should be “liberally construed to promote justice and dispose of cases on the merits.” *Dixon v. Besco Eng'g, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 178, 463 S.E.2d 636, 638 (Ct. App. 1995).

It is well-settled law in South Carolina that “where there is a good faith mistake of fact, and, no attempt to thwart the judicial system, there is basis for relief.” *Mictronics, Inc.*, 345 S.C. at 511; *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Galvin*, 288 S.C. 61, 339 S.E.2d 525 (Ct. App. 1986). In *Microtronics*, the trial court dismissed Microtronics’s lawsuit because it did not appear at a hearing because its president thought that the hearing was scheduled for a different day. *Mictronics, Inc.*, 345 S.C. at 508. The president wrote to the court immediately after he received a copy of the order to explain what happened and asked that the matter be reopened, but the court denied his request. *Id.* On appeal, the appellate court reversed the trial court’s decision and ordered that the trial court decide the case on its merits. *Id.* at 512. The appellate court explained that the appellee would “suffer no prejudice should th[e] case proceed for a determination on the merits.” *Id.* Furthermore, the appellate court found that “[g]iven Mictronics’ good faith mistake, its swift action to try to remedy the situation, the existence of a meritorious defense, and the lack of prejudice to [appellee]...the [trial court] abused his discretion by refusing to reopen the case.” *Id.*

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